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PUBLIC CONTRACTS APPEALS BOARD 
 

Case 46 
 

CT 2616/2004 :Tender for the reconstruction and upgrading of San Lawrenz to 
Rabat, Part of Arterial Route 1. Rabat Gozo 

 
 

This call for offers, which was published in the Maltese Government Gazette and the 
EU Official Journal on the 28.01.2005, was issued by the Contracts Department 
following a formal request received from the ADT (Awtorita’ Dwar it-Trasport ta’ 
Malta) through the Ministry for Gozo. 
 
The estimated works covered by this tender will be co-financed by the EU under the 
European Regional Development Fund with a budget of Lm 2,000,000.  
 
The closing date of this tender was 10 March 2005. 
 
In total, three (3) offers were submitted by tenderers on closing date for submission of 
offers. 

 
A formal objection was filed by Ganado & Associates Advocates on behalf of 
Polidano Group and Gatt Tarmac Ltd on 14 July 2005, following a formal 
notification received from the Director General Contracts in a letter dated  
8 July 2005 in which they were informed that their tender was not among the selected 
ones due to the fact that “the offer was not in compliance with the Tender Dossier 
since the identity of the tenderer submitting the tender is obscure because whilst the 
tender guarantee identified M/S Gatt Development Limited for Gatt Tarmac as the 
tenderer, the Tender Form did not identify the name of the tenderer.” 
 
The Public Contracts Appeals Board (PCAB) made up of Mr. Alfred Triganza 
(Chairman), Mr Anthony Pavia (Member), and Mr Edwin Muscat (Member), 
convened three public hearings on 24.08.2005, 29.08.2005 and 20.09.2005 to discuss 
this objection. 
 
Also present for the hearing were: 
 
 Polidano Group and Gatt Tarmac Ltd 
  Dr Stefan L. Frendo  Legal Representative 
  Dr Antoine Cremona Legal Representative 
  Dr Noel Camilleri   Legal Representative 
 
 MAC Joint Venture – made up of the following partners Roads 
 Construction Co Ltd (Leader), Bonnici Group Ltd and Zrar Ltd, C & F 
 Building Contractors Ltd and Schembri Infrastructu res Ltd. 
  Dr Adrian Delia   Legal Representative 
  Dr Mario Demarco   Legal Representative 
  Dr Kenneth Grima    Legal Representative 
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 Ministry for Gozo 
  Mr Joseph Portelli   Public Official 
  Dr Carmelo Galea    Legal Representative 
 
 Witnesses 
   Arch. Ivana Farrugia  Chairperson  
  Mr Saviour Tabone   Committee Secretary 
  Arch. Angelo Vassallo  Committee Member  
  Arch. David Portelli  Committee Member  
  Arch. Mario Ellul    Committee Member  
 Mr Bastian Debono              Member General Contracts Committee 
 Mr Melvin Cachia                Department of Contracts 
 Mr Jack Theuma                   Bank Manager BOV, Victoria Gozo 
 Mr Edwin Zarb                     Director General Contracts 
 Mr Mario Gatt                      Gatt Tarmac Ltd 
 Mr Charlo Farrugia               Polidano Bros Ltd 
 Mr Paul Caruana                   Quantity Surveyor, Design and Technical Resources 
 Dr Michael Borg Costanzi    Head, Legal Office BOV 
 Dr Joanna Drake                   Expert on EU Law  
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Following a general introduction by the Chairman, PCAB, relating to the objection 
raised in this particular case, one of the appellants’ legal representatives, Dr Stefan 
Frendo, remarked that they did not know yet who the other parties were, whether their 
‘motivated’ letter of objection was notified to someone else and whether any reply 
was submitted by interested parties. He also complained about the fact that when they 
asked for a copy of the ‘motivated letter of reply’ filed by all interested parties, the 
Department of Contracts informed them that they could not accede to their request.  
At this stage, the PCAB argued in favour of appellants’ request for such 
documentation to be made available and ruled that appellants should be given access 
to a copy of such correspondence. 
 
Dr Carmelo Galea, legal council to the Evaluation Committee appointed by the 
Ministry for Gozo, concurred that it was imperative to establish who the interested 
parties were, and proceeded by presenting a copy of his clients’ reply.  
 
Dr Adrian Delia, one of Mac Joint Venture’s legal representatives, explained that they 
had seen the appellants’ objection on the Department of Contracts’ Notice Board.  
However, he declared that they found no objection to their ‘motivated letter of reply’ 
being forwarded to the rest of the interested parties, agreeing that everyone is 
rightfully entitled to prepare oneself in the best possible manner, whether to defend or 
to challenge any decision.  
 
At this point the PCAB directed that all copies of correspondence/submissions 
regarding the appeal be distributed to the interested parties concerned, including 
Polidano Bros Ltd / Gatt Tarmac Ltd, Mac Joint Venture and the Ministry for Gozo.  
The sitting was suspended and the lawyers were allowed fifteen (15) minutes to read 
and analyse the contents thereof.  In view of the fact that it was established that the 
said parties needed more time to examine thoroughly the documentation given, 
possibly necessitating some kind of reply in regard, the PCAB suggested that the 
hearing be postponed to the following week, precisely for Monday, 29 August 2005 at 
13.00 hours.��

 
Then, Mr Melvin Cachia, representing the Department of Contracts, was called to the 
witness stand.   He testified that the correspondence had not been passed on to the 
complainants following legal advice received from the Attorney General’s Office. He 
explained that the procedure regarding the Three Package Tender Offer was regulated 
by Part XII of the Public Contracts Regulation 2005 (Legal Notice 177/2005) while 
the procedure of appeals following the decision relating to the award of contract was 
regulated by Part XIII of the same regulations.  He said that the tender in question was 
under Three Package Tender Offer and relative objection was not considered ‘normal’ 
but a ‘review’. The praxis followed to date in these types of objections was that they 
passed such correspondence only to the PCAB.   The Chairman, PCAB, said that, 
irrespective of whether it was a review or not, the Board was of the opinion that the 
appellant and all interested parties had a fundamental right to have access to all 
correspondence related to notice/ motivated letters of objection and replies thereto. 
However, he made it clear that although the PCAB always insisted on the 
transparency of the appeals’ procedures it did not tolerate ‘fishing expeditions’. 
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After the meeting was suspended again, the PCAB clarified that it would not give a 
preliminary ruling but a final decision on all the case.  Also it was agreed to continue 
with the proceedings. 
 
Dr Noel Camilleri said that this tender was issued for the reconstruction and 
upgrading of the stretch of road leading from San Lawrenz to Rabat, Gozo.  He said 
that the three tenderers who submitted their offer were accepted at the initial phase, 
that is, at the opening of the Bid Bond (Envelope 1) and that at the second envelope 
stage (relating to ‘Specifications’) one tenderer was accepted and the other two were 
rejected.  Their clients decided to file an objection because they were of the opinion 
that the manner in which they were rejected was not compliant with the regulations 
and the spirit of the tender.  In their letter of objection they highlighted the points why 
the PCAB should uphold the appeal.  The fact that the appellant deposited Lm10,000 
with the objection indicated they felt that the appeal was justified. 
 
Dr Carmelo Galea, the Ministry for Gozo’s legal advisor, said that this was a ‘Three 
Separate Package’ tender.   He explained that when the Evaluation Committee opened 
the offers of the three competing tenderers, they found that one of them, which 
pertained to the appellant, did not have the name of the tenderer on it. In spite of this, 
it was decided to accept this tender ‘prima facie’.  When they opened Envelope 1 of 
Tender No 3 (appellant) they found that it contained a tender guarantee issued by 
Bank of Valletta to the order of Gatt Development Ltd for Gatt Tarmac Ltd.  
Although this guarantee did not follow the exact format of the tender guarantee form 
(page 59 of the ‘Tender Document’) it was again decided to proceed with the opening 
of Envelope 2 (relating to ‘Specificiations’) of Tender No 3. However, upon opening 
this envelope, the ‘Tender Form’ contained therein failed to identify the ‘leader’ of 
the tender.  Nor was there any indication of the identity of Partners 1, 2 and 3 of the 
tender.  Partner 4 was identified as ‘Messrs Polidano Bros. Ltd’.  Gatt Developments 
Ltd and Gatt Tarmac Ltd did not feature at all on the Tender Form, but they were 
shown as subcontractors. At that point, this tender was not discarded but left pending 
because the Evaluation Committee needed to seek legal advice from the Attorney 
General’s Office.  
 
Ms Ivana Farrugia, Chairperson of the Evaluation Committee, testified that the advice 
sought from the Attorney General’s Office was sought because, after consulting the  
Contracts Committee’s representative, the decision as to whether to accept Tenderer 
No 3’s offer or not was left at the discretion of the Evaluation Committee.   
 
Dr Delia said that the tender dossier provided that one of the tendering procedural 
requirements was that ‘The Tender must comprise the following duly completed 
documents.’ He contended that according to the documents submitted, it was clear 
that the Complainant failed to comply with the procedural requirements stipulated in 
the tender dossier. Furthermore, he pointed out that the power granted to the Director 
of Contracts to seek clarifications was strictly limited to points of a technical nature 
and not to matters relating to the ‘Bid Bond’, identification of the ‘Tenderer’, ‘Leader’ 
and ‘Subcontractor’, and similar matters.   



 Page 5 of 98 

 
As regards the complainant’s allegation that the Director of Contracts’ rejection of  
the tender submission was a ‘misuse of administration discretion’, Dr Delia argued 
that the law itself specified that if a tender submission was found to have failed with 
complying to the tendering procedural requirements ‘the remaining packages in his 
tender offer are to be discarded unopened.’ 
 
With regard to the Bank Guarantee, he said that clause 18.1 of Volume 1 of Section 1 
of the ‘General Part’ of the tender dossier stipulated that, ‘The Tenderer must provide, 
as part of his tender, a tender guarantee.’  In this case the tender guarantee was 
provided by Gatt Tarmac Ltd who was a sub-contractor and not by the presumed 
tenderer, namely Polidano Bros Ltd.   
 
Dr Mario Demarco, another legal advisor representing Mac Joint Venture, said that 
this was a question of documentary evidence.  He argued that it was useless to hear 
the evidence of witnesses considering the fact that the documents showed that the 
tender guarantee was not issued by the tenderer, and in the ‘Tender Form’, Polidano 
Bros Ltd was indicated as Partner No 4 and no one was indicated as Partner No 1, 2 
and 3 or the Leader. He said that the law stipulated the identification of the tenderer so 
that it would be known who one is dealing with. Dr Demarco also argued that if the 
tender guarantee was made on behalf of another person then the Department of 
Contracts would not be able to call in the tender guarantee should the latter deem 
necessary to do so. 
 
Dr Kenneth Grima, another lawyer forming part of the legal advisory team to Mac 
Joint Venture, said that the Director of Contracts had no discretion because “will” and 
“must” could not be interpreted in a different way other than the scope they were 
originally intended for and as included in the tender forms.  He argued that if such 
mistakes were to be tolerated and this appeal was upheld, such decision would have a 
repercussion on future cases. 
 
Mr Jack Theuma, BOV Branch Manager (Victoria, Gozo), in taking the witness stand, 
sought permission from the Bank’s client, namely Mr Mario Gatt, representing Gatt 
Tarmac Limited to exempt him from his professional secrecy.  The latter consented to 
request. 
 
On cross-examination by Dr Stefan Frendo, one of the appellants’ legal 
representatives, Mr Theuma confirmed that the BOV issued a Bank Guarantee for Lm 
25,000 in respect of Tender CT 2616/2004 for the Construction and upgrading of San 
Lawrenz to Rabat Road, Part of Arterial Route 1, Rabat Gozo by the order of Gatt 
Development Ltd for Gatt Tarmac Ltd in favour of the Director of Contracts. He also 
produced a copy of the Tender Guarantee No. G24TFC5092.  
 
Mr Theuma testified that if the tenderer would fail to fulfil his obligations under the 
tender conditions and the Director of Contracts (in this instance known as the 
‘beneficiary’) were to submit a claim accompanied by the original Bank Guarantee, 
the BOV p.l.c. (the ‘guarantor’) would pay “no questions asked”.  He said that it was 
Mr Mario Gatt, Managing Director of Gatt Development Ltd (Parent Company) and 
Gatt Tarmac Ltd (Subsidiary Company) who had requested BOV p.l.c. to issue the 
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bank guarantee.  He also confirmed that, independently of who requested the issue of 
the bank guarantee, it would be honoured by the Bank.   
 
When the witness was asked by Dr Demarco to declare whether Polidano Bros Ltd 
was indicated as the tenderer on the Bank Guarantee, the reply given was in the 
negative.   
 
Then, the same lawyer mentioned the fact that, according to the 1st paragraph of the 
Bank Guarantee, the ‘Tenderer’ was Gatt Development for Gatt Tarmac Ltd.  Also, he 
pointed out that the conditions regarding the issue of this guarantee were indicated in 
the 2nd paragraph which stated that: 
 
‘At the request of the Tenderer, we, Bank of Valletta p.l.c., hereby guarantee to pay 
you on demand a maximum sum of Twenty Five Thousand Maltese Lire and 00 cents, 
Lm25,000 in the event that the Tenderer withdraws its tender before the expiry date or 
in the event that the Tenderer fails to sign the contract and provide the Performance 
Bond, if called upon to do so in accordance with the tender conditions or in the event 
that the Tenderer otherwise fails to fulfil its obligations under the tender conditions.’ 
 
On a specific question by Dr Demarco, the witness confirmed that if someone were to 
withdraw from the tender who was not Gatt Tarmac Ltd, the conditions in the bank 
guarantee would not be applicable.  
 
Then, Dr Stefan Frendo asked Mr Theuma to state whether the guarantee for this 
particular tender would be valid if Polidano Bros Ltd (the ‘tenderer’), being a business 
partner with the company on whose behalf the Bank Guarantee was issued, were to 
withdraw from the tendering process.  Mr Theuma replied by stating that, in that 
instance, the matter would be referred to the Legal Office for advice.    
 
In reply to Dr Delia’s question, Mr Theuma confirmed that once in the Bank 
Guarantee it was indicated that Gatt Development Ltd for Gatt Tarmac Ltd was the 
tenderer, then if this were to ultimately result in the indicated tenderer not being the 
the real tenderer, the guarantee would be considered invalid.   
 
Also, in his testimony, he said that if the name of the tenderer was not mentioned 
when they received a claim he would pay, but if it was mentioned he would refer the 
matter for legal advice to give a ruling whether he was in order to pay or not. 
 
Mr Mario Gatt, shareholder of Gatt Tarmac Ltd, testified that in the said Company he 
was the person responsible for the preparation and submission of tenders. He said that 
in Gozo there were only two contractors, namely Roads Construction and Gatt 
Tarmac Ltd.  They were interested in bidding for this tender and since they required a 
certain amount of turnover in cash they decided to associate themselves with Polidano 
Bros Ltd.   Polidano Group were the main contractors holding 70% of the total 
participating shares with Gatt Tarmac Ltd acting as the sub-contractor agreeing to 
hold the balance of the total financial and statutory interest.  
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According to the same witness, the two Companies also verbally agreed that the Bid 
Bond be issued by Gatt Tarmac Ltd.   
 
When cross-examined further on this particular issue, Mr Gatt emphasised that there 
was no written agreement because it was a question of confidence between the 
Companies concerned.   He stated that he was fully aware of the fact that if his partner 
defaulted in any way the Company he represented would lose the money tied to the 
bank guarantee.   
 
Mr Gatt confirmed that he had requested BOV p.l.c. to issue the Bank Guarantee for 
this specific tender; the Bid Bond was valid for 90 days and the Director of Contracts 
requested them to extend the Bank Gaurantee.  Also, he testified that they had 
assigned Architect Robert Sant and that he had worked with Mr Paul Caruana to 
complete the tender.   
 
Mr Gatt said they submitted their tender in three (3) envelopes in accordance with the 
established procedure.  The envelopes were rubber stamped with the words Polidano 
Bros Ltd.  He said that Mr Charlo Farrugia from Polidano Bros Ltd and himself had 
submitted the tender at the Department of Contracts before closing time.  Prior to the 
opening of the tenders by the Evaluatin Committee, they were asked whether there 
were any representatives of the tenderers. Mr Farrugia identified himself as Polidano 
Bros Ltd’s representative who was then asked to sign a paper.  He said that when they 
opened the first envelope and saw that Polidano Bros. Ltd was not mentioned, he told 
them that the Bid Bond was issued by his Company because it was a sub-contractor.  
At this stage, Mr Gatt said that the Evaluation / Contracts Committee sought advice in 
regard from Mr Edwin Zarb (Director General, Contracts), who told them to proceed 
with the opening of the 2nd envelope.   At that stage it was not indicated to him that 
there were any problems with the 1st and 2nd envelope.  However, when after around 
two days he went to check the Notice Board at the Contracts Department, he 
discovered that the Evaluation Committee was going to seek legal advice on the Bid 
Bond and to ask for clarification regarding Partner No 4.  
 
At this point he presented to those present a photo of the Summary of Tenders 
Received which was published on the Contracts Department’s Notice Board.   
 
According to the same witness, at the opening stage one of the Evaluation Committee 
members had mentioned to him that they needed to seek legal advice on issues 
relating to the Bid Bond. Mr Gatt also recalled that a representative of the General 
Contracts Committee had told them that it was valid.  However, Mr Gatt insisted that 
the issue of clarification was never mentioned to him.  To his amazement, Mr Gatt 
emphasised, on 8 July 2005, Polidano Group and Gatt Tarmac Ltd were officially 
informed that their tender had been rejected. 
 
Dr Galea drew the witness’ attention that  according to the Evaluation Committee’s 
minutes regarding the opening procedure of offers, the first problem arose because the 
name of the tender box was unmarked bearing no identification of the tenderer who 
had submitted the offer. At this point, when Mr Gatt was specifically asked to state  
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whether he was aware that there was a discussion on this matter, the reply given was 
in the negative.   
 
Then, Dr Galea said that when the Evaluation / Contracts Committee proceeded with 
the opening of the respective tender guarantees, it was found that the tender guarantee 
submitted by appellants did not follow the exact format of the tender guarantee form 
as stipulated on page 59 of the Tender Document.  The Ministry for Gozo’s legal 
representative contended that the fact that in Thake and Desira Advocates’ letter dated 
22nd March 2005 it was stated that there was no conformity because the form was 
blank proved that at the opening of the 1st envelope the discussion was about this 
issue.  However, Mr Gatt declared that he was not aware of any discussion regarding 
the lack of conformity of their Bank Guarantee.  
 
Dr Galea explained that at this point in time the Evaluation Committee did not know 
that the tenderer was Polidano Bros. Ltd because the Tender Guarantee mentioned 
only Messrs Gatt Development for Gatt Tarmac Ltd.  Upon opening Envelope 2 more 
serious discussion ensued because neither Gatt Developments Ltd nor Gatt Tarmac 
Ltd featured on the Tender Forms but they were shown as sub-contractors.     
 
Mr Gatt confirmed that he did not inform BOV p.l.c. that he was a sub-contractor and 
that in the Bank Guarantee he was indicated as the Tenderer. He declared that for him 
there was no difference between a contractor and a sub-contractor because he was part 
of the tender.   His attention was drawn to the fact that once he was responsible for 
30% of the works his obligation was not equal to that of the Tenderer.   
 
At this stage, Dr Galea said that all tender documents were signed by the tenderer and 
the sub-contractor.   
 
When cross examined by Dr Delia it was established that Mr Gatt was neither a 
Director nor a Managing Director of Gatt Tarmac Ltd but a shareholder.  He said that 
although Gatt Tarmac Ltd had been in operation for 5 years, he had been involved in 
the preparation of tenders for 30 years. He reiterated that he did not make any 
difference between a contractor and a sub-contractor and, as far as he was concerned, 
the most important thing was that the tenderer was indicated.   
 
Dr Delia argued that once Gatt Tarmac Ltd paid the Lm 10,000, the appeal was 
invalid because a sub-contractor was not allowed to appeal. 
 
On cross examination by Dr Demarco, Mr Gatt testified that Gatt Tarmac Ltd was 
tendering as sub-contractor for the first time and that they made a written arrangement 
between them and Polidano Bros Ltd.  He was followed by Mr Charlo Farrugia who, 
on being cross-examined by Dr Camilleri, testified that he was an employee of 
Polidano Bros Ltd.  He confirmed that he was the Company’s representative in the 
tender opening session and that he had signed the paper where the representatives of 
the tenderers were identified.  He declared that at least one rubber stamp of the 
Polidano Bros Ltd was stamped on the white wrapping paper of the tender box.   
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Mr Farrugia said that when a problem arose regarding the Bid Bond which was not 
issued by Polidano Bros Ltd but by Gatt Tarmac Ltd., the Director of Contracts was 
requested to come in the room in order to advise on issue.  According to Mr Farrugia, 
the Director of Contracts said that the bank guarantee was acceptable but left the 
decision as to whether this should ultimately be accepted entirely in the hands of the 
Chairperson of the Evaluation Committee; on her part, the latter, decided to seek legal 
advice on the matter. 
 
In reply to Dr Gales’s questions, Mr Farrugia declared that it was one of the 
competitors who was in the public area who had questioned why the Bid Bond was 
issued by Gatt Tarmac Ltd and not by Polidano Bros Ltd.   He could not recall that the 
issue regarding the format of the Bid Bond (page 59) was raised during the opening of 
Envelope 1. His attention was drawn to the fact that this matter was mentioned by Dr 
Norval Desira in his letter dated 22 March 2005.   
 
Mr Farrugia proceeded by confirming that after the opening of Envelope No 2 there 
was a discussion about the fact that the ‘Leader’ was not identified. 
 
In reply to Dr Delia’s questions, Mr Farrugia confirmed that the rubber stamp was not 
on the tender box and that the tenderer was Polidano Bros Ltd.  He declared that the 
Bid Bond presented with the tender was on behalf of Gatt Tarmac Ltd and that 
Polidano Bros Ltd submitted the appeal. 
 
On cross-examination by Dr Demarco, Mr Farrugia confirmed that Polidano Bros Ltd 
was the contractor and that the Bank Guarantee indicated Gatt Tarmac Ltd as the 
Tenderer.   
 
In his testimony, Mr Edwin Zarb, Director General Contracts, was first cross-
examined by the PCAB.  He testified that when he was called to give his 
interpretation about the format and wording of the tender guarantee, he believed that 
Government’s financial interests were safeguarded because it specified that ‘it shall 
not be incumbent upon us to verify whether such demand was justified.’  However, he 
said that the Evaluation Committee decided to take legal advice regarding the validity 
of the Guarantee.  Also, he confirmed that the Department acknowledged the tenderer 
and not the sub-contractor because the contractual obligations were between the 
Department and the Tenderer.  He explained that in the event a sub-contractor 
defaulted, it was the contractor who was responsible and not the sub-contractor. He 
explained that, immaterial of the identity of the person at whose request such a 
guarantee was issued, the Bank would honour the claim. 
 
Then, Dr Frendo referred Mr Zarb to the advice given by the Attorney General’s 
Office which indicated that according to Maltese Law a person could stand as 
guarantor for another person.  However, it was also stated that if the Evaluation 
Committee was strict in its interpretation of the regulations and conditions of the 
tender dossier it could reject the offer.  He was of the opinion that the advice given by 
the Attorney General comforted his version because nowhere was it stated that he had 
taken the wrong decision when he recommended that the tender guarantee was 
admissible.  
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Dr Galea intervened and pointed out that the Bank Guarantee was submitted by the 
order of Gatt Development Limited for Gatt Tarmac Ltd and that the latter was 
identified as the Tenderer. He argued that if the Director of Contracts were to claim 
the Bank Guarantee on the request of the Tenderer and the Bank paid the sum 
claimed, Gatt Tarmac Ltd could take legal action against Director of Contracts 
because Gatt Tarmac Ltd was not the Tenderer but a sub-contractor. 
 
On his part, Dr Demarco made reference to page 59 of Tender Document regarding 
the Guarantee Form and Mr Zarb confirmed that, although the Bank Guarantee did 
not follow the exact format of the tender guarantee form, it was acceptable.  Dr 
Demarco insisted that it was mandatory that the Contractor’s name and address be 
indicated in the Bank Guarantee.  Mr Zarb confirmed that Gatt Tarmac Ltd was not 
the Tenderer.    Initially the Tender Guarantee Form was accepted because the 
Guarantee was ‘payable on demand’.  However, he agreed with the Evaluation 
Committee’s decision to take legal advice on the whole issue.  
 
Mr Zarb confirmed Dr Frendo’s statement that the Attorney General’s decision had 
comforted his position, mainly, that on the basis of that Bank Guarantee, 
Government’s interest was safeguarded.  Dr Demarco intervened by stating that the 
issue was not whether Gatt Tarmac Ltd could act as surety for the tenderer or not but 
whether it was according to the tender conditions or not.  He quoted the 2nd, 3rd and 4th 
paragraph of page 2 of the Attorney General’s advice given on 11 April 2005 wherein 
the Attorney General put the responsibility on the Evaluation Committee to decide. 
On the same subject matter Dr Grima said that when the lawyer from the Attorney 
General’s office quoted from the tender document she put emphasis on the words 
“strictly in accordance to”. At this stage Mr Zarb intervened and stated that if his 
Department were to act extremely strict then one could easily end up discarding all 
tenders. Dr Galea rebutted claiming that in this case one had to take notice of the 
advice given by the Attorney General’s office which ‘inter alia’ stated that “… Should 
the board be of the opinion that the submitted documents are incomplete, obscure, 
conditional, illegible, contain unrequested information or other irregularities, then on 
the basis of parag. 27.1, such tender may be rejected.” 
 
Mr Zarb concluded his testimony by insisting that in this particular instance he was of 
the opinion that Government’s interest was safeguarded, confirming also that it was 
the Contracts Department which requested Gatt Tarmac Ltd to extend the guarantee. 
 
When cross-examined by Dr Frendo, Mr Paul Caruana, Quantity Surveyor with 
Architect Robert Sant of Design and Technical Resources, testified that Mr Charles 
Polidano had assigned him to fill in the tender dossier.  He explained that when they 
filled the information on the Tender Form, they were also filling in the Hal Far Tender 
wherein Polidano Bros Ltd was Partner No 4 and unfortunately they copied and 
pasted them from the documents thereof.  He declared that Partner No 4 was included 
only once in the tender document, that is, on page 55.  He said that the entire tender 
was filled in with information about the tenderer, namely, Polidano Bros Ltd.  At this 
point it was decided to adjourn the sitting for Monday, 29 September 2005 because it 
was felt necessary to verify witness’ testimony with the tender document. 
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When the hearing reconvened on the agreed date, the Chairman informed those 
present that the PCAB decided to summon Dr Michael Borg Costanzi, Head of the 
Bank of Valletta Legal Office as a witness in view of the fact that in the previous 
hearing a BOV Branch Manager had testified that, if there was a point of clarification, 
the matter would be referred to the Legal Office.   
 
Dr Borg Costanzi was first cross-examined by the PCAB.  He was given the copy of 
the Bank Guarantee issued for this particular tender and was asked to explain how he 
would interpret this document if this were referred to him by a Branch Manager.  He 
said that this was a bank guarantee in favour of the Director of Contracts for Lm 
25,000 in respect of Tender No CT 2616/2004.  It was issued by the order of Gatt 
Tarmac Ltd as the tenderer.  BOV guaranteed to pay Lm 25,000 in the event the 
Tenderer withdrew its tender before the expiry date or in the event the Tenderer failed 
to sign the contract.  He said that the Director General Contracts could claim the 
guarantee at any time, provided that such request was made in writing and 
accompanied by the original tender guarantee.  The bank would not verify whether 
such demand was justified or not, continued Dr Borg Costanzi.  Although it was a 
guarantee in favour of the Director General Contracts, they would not be involved 
between the Director General Contracts and the Tenderer.  Also, the guarantee 
specified that it expired on the 10th June 2005.  Finally, BOV’s Head, Legal Office, 
said that if the guarantee were to be cancelled or no longer required, the document 
would be returned to them. The guarantee was issued in favour of the Director of the 
Contracts and it was not transferable or assignable.   
 
In reply to specific questions by Dr Delia, the witness asserted that the guarantee was 
a ‘stand alone’ document; it was issued on the request of their client and that it was 
not important for the Bank to know who the tenderer was.  Dr Borg Costanzi 
confirmed that a bank guarantee was a tripartite agreement. Also he explained that it 
created a legal relationship between the beneficiary (Director of Contracts) and the 
bank (BOV) wherein the bank bound itself to pay the beneficiary the amount 
indicated in the guarantee ‘no questions asked’.  He confirmed that a bank guarantee 
also created a legal relationship between the beneficiary and the person on whose 
order the guarantee was issued, but this was beyond the guarantee.  He could not 
exclude the possibility that Gatt Tarmac Ltd could sue the Director General, Contracts 
Department, for damages if the latter were to call upon the bank guarantee in case 
Polidano Bros Ltd failed to fulfil their obligations under the tender conditions 
considering the fact that Gatt Tarmac Ltd were not the tenderers. 
 
Finally, he was asked to state what would be the position if the Director General 
(Contracts) were to mention specifically Polidano Bros Ltd by name in his request. Dr 
Borg Costanzi replied that he would ask him to remove the name so that he would be 
able to pay.  On the other hand if the Director General (Contracts) would refuse to 
remove that reference, he would have to interpret whether the claim remained within 
the tender guarantee or not.  In reply to a question put to him by a member of the 
Board he stated that he could not rule out the possibility that he might have to consult 
with Gatt, his client. 
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The next witness was Mr Caruana who, proceeding with the testimony he had 
commenced during the previous session, on cross-examination by Dr Frendo, 
confirmed that he filled most of the voluminous technical offer under Section 4 of the 
tender and that all information contained therein referred to Polidano Bros Ltd who 
was the tenderer.  The only part that Gatt Tarmac Ltd was mentioned was in Section 
4.6.3 (Page 76). 
 
At this stage, Dr Galea intervened and referred the witness to the Tender Form (page 
55) and to Point no 7 on page 62 which specified that ‘Each partner in a joint 
venture/consortium must fill in and submit every form.’  He argued that if Polidano 
Bros. was Partner No 4, it’s representative should have filled the form and that it was 
mandatory to fill and submit such form for each of the other partners.  Dr Delia 
interjected to point out that together with his clients he had failed to identify the 
Leader in the Tender Form submitted.  Mr Caruana explained that he had copied and 
pasted the text from another tender document wherein Polidano Bros Ltd was ‘Partner 
4’.  Furthermore, when asked by Dr Frendo whether it was a joint venture and 
whether there were any other partners, the reply given was in the negative.   
  
On cross-examination by Dr Frendo, Arch Ivana Farrugia, Chairperson Evaluation 
Committee, said that she was employed at the Ministry for Gozo. She declared that 
the Chairperson and the members of the Evaluation Committee were appointed by the 
EU Directorate at the Ministry for Gozo and that the Department of Contract was the 
contracting authority. The witness proceeded by stating that the said members sent the 
Curriculum Vitae for approval by the Department of Contracts and they subsequently 
signed a declaration stating their independence and impartiality.  She testified that this 
was the first time that she had chaired an Evaluation Committee for a Department of 
Contracts’ tender.   Previously she had been appointed as a member for the evaluation 
of Departmental tenders within the Ministry for Gozo.   
 
Ms Farrugia explained that on the date of the opening session at the Department of 
Contracts there were three packages and the Evaluation Committee numbered each 
package.  Two of the tenders had the name of the tenderer printed on the box and the 
third one was not identifiable.  She declared that neither the box nor the wrapping 
paper was rubber stamped with the name of the tenderer.  After they consulted a 
member of the General Contracts Committee, the Evaluation Committee agreed not to 
consider this as a valid reason to reject the tender and so they decided to open it and 
they assigned it number ‘3’ for identification purposes.  Architect Farrugia confirmed 
that the Committee members did not take any minutes of the session relating to the 
tender opening procedures.  
 
The Chairperson of the Evaluation Committee said that the tenderers’ or partners’ 
representatives present for the opening session were Architect Rueben Aquilina for 
MAC, Charlo Farrugia for Polidano Bros Ltd and Architect Sandra Vassallo for 
Asfaltar Ltd and Tal-General. 
 
She said that when they opened Envelope No 1 of Tenderer No 3, they noticed that 
the bank guarantee referred to tenderer Gatt Tarmac Ltd and that the wording was not 
exactly like that of the Tender Guarantee Form in the tender dossier (page 59).  
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However, it was considered as valid because both the names of tenderer and the bank 
were identified. At that stage they believed that Gatt Tarmac Ltd was the tenderer.  So 
they decided to proceed with the opening of Envelope No 2 (‘Technical 
Specifications’) of Tenderer No 3. Upon opening this envelope, it resulted that the 
Tender Form document did not identify the ‘Leader’ and that Partner 4 was identified 
as Polidano Bros Ltd.  Apart from this, Gatt Tarmac Ltd were identified as sub-
contractors in Form 4.6.3.  They decided to seek legal advice from the Attorney 
General’s Office because they had problems regarding the identity of the tenderer, the 
validity of the tender guarantee and admissibility of the tender.  Ms Farrugia claimed 
that Attorney General’s advice was not clear but it tended to be in favour of rejection.  
The Chairperson declared that the Evaluation Board members were unanimous in 
their decision. 
 
When asked to state which criterion of adjudication would be adopted, that is, the 
‘most economic advantageous tender’ (MEAT) or lowest price offer, which were the 
only two criterion mentioned in the EU Directive, Ms Farrugia replied by stating that 
they did not know the price yet because at that stage Envelope No 3 (Price) had not 
yet been opened.  When Dr Frendo referred the witness to clause 31.1 which 
stipulated that ‘The tender will be awarded to the compliant bidder with the lowest 
price’, she said that the award would be based not solely on the price because at that 
stage the tenderers would have already been found to be compliant with the technical 
specifications.  Dr Antoine Cremona, another legal advisor to the appellant, 
intervened and alleged that apparently the Chairperson of the Evaluation Committee 
was not conscious that she had selected the wrong criterion (MEAT). 
 
During cross-examination Ms Farrugia also testified that the Evaluation Committee 
did not seek clarifications from Polidano Bros Ltd because they were not of a 
technical nature. In the Summary of Tenders Received the Evaluation Committee 
indicated that they ‘requested further clarification’ because they had difficulty in the 
identification of the contractor and the sub-contractor.  She added that the 
clarifications that were sought from other bidders were of a technical nature. 
 
When cross-examined by Dr Galea, Ms Farrugia explained the procedure of the Three 
Package System, wherein first they opened Envelope No 1 (‘Tender Guarantee’) and 
if found admissible then they would proceed with the opening of Envelope No 2 
(‘Specifications’).  Those tenderers who were found compliant with the specifications 
would proceed to the 3rd and last Envelope (‘Price’).  She declared that neither the 
Secretary nor herself, as Chairperson, had a vote and that only the members had 
voted.   When Dr Galea made reference to Clause 31.1 of the Tender Dossier and 
asked what did she understand by ‘compliant bidder’,  Ms Farrugia replied that the 
bidder would have satisfied the tender guarantee’s and technical specifications’ 
requirements and also compliant to the tender dossier.   
 
Also, Ms Farrugia stated that the Evaluation Committee’s decision was referred to the 
General Contracts Committee who could have approved or rejected it, but in this case 
their decision was approved.  She said that their report was submitted to the Director 
of Contracts and that during the process they always held contact with the Department 
of Contracts.   
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In reply to specific questions by Dr Delia, the Chairperson of the Evaluation 
Committee confirmed that (i) the tender box was neither rubber-stamped with 
Polidano Bros Ltd nor Gatt Tarmac Ltd, (i) the Leader was not indicated in the 
Tender Form, (iii) there was no tender guarantee form of Polidano Bros Ltd, (iv) 
tenders which did not conform to the tender procedure requirements had to remain 
unopened and (v) clarification could only be sought on points of a technical nature.   
  
Following Architect Farrugia’s testimony, it was the turn of the other three members 
of the Evaluation Committee, namely Messrs Angelo Portelli (Architect at the 
Ministry for Gozo),  Mario Ellul and  David Vassallo (both from ADT – Awtorita’ 
Dwar it-Trasport), to take the stand. In their testimony, they all confirmed Ms Ivana 
Farrugia’s version of events and statements regarding their appointment and the 
signed declaration.   
 
At this stage, Dr Noel Camilleri requested to testify under oath and to be exempted 
from his professional secrecy.  He declared that on 12 July 2005 he had a meeting 
with Mr Zarb who confirmed that the procedures applicable in this case were those of 
LN 299 of 2003 and not those of LN 177 of 2005. 
 
The appellants’ legal representatives’ request to produce Dr Joanna Drake as an 
expert witness on EU Law was rejected by the PCAB because it was felt that the 
appellant could make reference to EU legal matters in their written submissions and a 
as a consequence Dr Drake’s intervention was considered by the Board as not relevant 
to the proceedings. During the long discussion that ensued on this issue, the 
appellants’ lawyers insisted that Dr Drake’s testimony was indispensable because they 
wanted to prove that the laws regulating the public procurement regulations as 
transposed  in Malta differed from the EU directives and also because the EU law was 
now superior to domestic law.  They argued that the PCAB should seek clarification 
on the matter.  After the PCAB’s decision to abide by its original ruling against Dr 
Drake’s summoning in view of the fact that it considered this hearing not the right 
forum to bring about any misconceptions on Maltese law by the appellants’ legal 
representatives, Dr Frendo verbalised that: 
 
“Dr Frendo, Dr Noel Camilleri and Dr Antoine Cremona jitolbu lill-Bord jisma’ lil 
Dr Joanna Drake prodotta mill-patrocinati taghha sabiex tixhed dwar l-applikabilita 
o meno tad-dritt komunitarju ghal dan il-kaz kif ukoll id-decizjonijiet kunsinjati tal-
Qorti Ewropea tal-Gustizzja u Qorti ta’ l-Ewwel Istanza tal-UE ghal dan l-istess 
kaz.” 
 
At this stage, all parties involved agreed with the PCAB’s request to forward their 
written submissions to the BCAB’s Secretary by 10 September 2005 (12.00 hrs) and 
to exchange same among themselves.   It was also agreed that the said parties were to 
submit such submissions by electronic mail. 
 
The submissions in question are being reproduced ‘verbatim’ in annexes ‘A’, ‘B’ 
and ‘C’ respectively attached to this document. 
 
 
 
 



 Page 15 of 98 

 
As agreed, the third and final hearing was held on the 10 September 2005. 
 
At the beginning of this hearing the Chairman, PCAB said that the parties concerned, 
namely, Ganado & Associates Advocates for Polidano Bros Ltd and Gatt Tarmac Ltd, 
Sapiano & Associates for MAC Joint Venture and Dr Galea for Ministry for Gozo, 
had exchanged their respective written submissions. He pointed out that the purpose 
of this final session was mainly intended for each party to rebut the written 
submissions forwarded by the other parties. The initial part was dedicated to each 
party for these to make their first interventions which could be followed by further 
interventions as a result of the proceedings throughout the same hearing.   
 
After this introduction, Dr Frendo was allowed to sign the note of their written 
submission because when it was presented he was abroad.   
 
However, before proceeding with the oral submission, Dr Camilleri pointed out that 
although all parties were asked to submit their written submissions by 12.00 hours 
(Noon) on Monday, 12th September 2005 (the date of 10th September 2005 indicated 
earlier was changed because it was brought to the attention of this Board that it was 
going to fall on a Saturday), by 12.05 hours only the appellants’ submission and that 
of Dr Galea, on behalf of the Ministry for Gozo, were received.  He said that he 
became aware of the fact that the written submission presented by the legal advisors 
representing the MAC Joint Venture was not presented on time and therefore he 
requested that this should not be taken into consideration.  Dr Camilleri claimed that 
this was verified by Mr Saviour Debono (Secretary PCAB), Dr Cremona, Mr Mario 
Gatt and himself.  At this point the Chairman PCAB replied that the written 
submission by Sapiano & Associates on behalf of MAC Joint Venture would be 
accepted as it results to them that it was submitted within the stipulated time, even 
though erroneously to the Contracts Department instead of the Secretary PCAB.  At 
this stage, the Secretary of the Board confirmed and presented this Board with an 
original stamped document denoting the recipient at the Department of Contracts, and 
date and time of receipt of the said submission.   When Dr Camilleri continued to 
insist that submissions had to be submitted to the Secretary PCAB and not to the 
Department of Contracts, the Chairman PCAB drew his attention that it was also a 
state of fact that the submissions should have also been exchanged between the parties 
concerned by that time but they were not.  Dr Delia intervened to reiterate that their 
note of submission was submitted on time.  The PCAB confirmed its ruling and 
advised legal representatives to proceed. 
 
Dr Antoine Cremona, initiated his intervention by giving background information 
regarding the issue of the tender and the apposite appeal 
 
He said that there were three bidders for this first tender in Gozo which was co-
financed by the EU.  One of the two rejected tenderers, namely his clients, had filed 
an objection against a deposit of Lm 10,000, this being 0.5% of the total estimated 
cost of tender amounting to Lm2 million. He contended that, given that the aggregate 
procurement value of this contract exceeded the thresholds stipulated by the EU 
directives, it was the responsibility of the Director of Contracts, as the Contracting  
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Authority, to administer and adjudicate this tender. He said that this tender fell under 
the Three-Separate Package procurement procedure and that the appellants were 
excluded from the final phase, that is, the opening of the third Envelope which 
considers the financial package.  The PCAB was being requested to remedy the 
situation by re-instating them in the bidding process.  
 
Dr Cremona proceeded by referring to what he labelled as ‘Invalidity of the objection’ 
placing particular emphasis on the applicability or otherwise of the legislation as well 
as the relationship between Polidano Group, Polidano Bros and Gatt Tarmac Ltd. 
 
As regards the law applicable in this instance, Dr Cremona said that their appeal 
should not be considered “invalid and without effect and should be dismissed 
immediately” as stated by the lawyers of MAC Joint Ventures in their written 
submission because, although at the time of filing their objection LN 299 of 2003 had 
already been replaced by LN 177 of 2005, in substance, nothing had changed, and as a 
matter of fact, the dispositions of the relevant regulation remained the same. 
 
Furthermore, he pointed out that when the tendering process was initiated, the 
applicable regime was LN 299 of 2003.  In fact, the Contract Notice was published in 
the Official Journal of the European Union on 20 January 2005; the appellants 
retrieved a copy of the Tender Dossier on 28 January 2005 against a deposit of 
Lm100; the evaluation process was almost terminated on 10 March 2005; and the new 
regime (LN 177 of 2005) entered into force on 3 June 2005. Therefore the latter could 
not be said to apply retroactively.  
 
Also, he said that their appeal was based on the dispositions included in the Tender 
Dossier wherein Article 38 entitled ‘APPEALS’ referred to Part XII of the Public 
Contracts Regulations (LN 299 of 2003) in connection with the procedure for appeals 
from decisions of the contracting authority in procurement using the separate 
packages procedure. The tender dossier created a juridical relationship between the 
Contracting Authority and potential bidders.     
 
With regard to the other party’s claim that the appellants’ objection should be 
dismissed because the appeal was not filed by the ‘tenderer’, Polidano Bros Ltd. but 
by Polidano Group and Gatt Tarmac Ltd, Dr Cremona pointed out that they appealed 
on the basis of the Director General Contracts’ letter of rejection dated 8 July 2005 
which was addressed to Polidano Group and Gatt Tarmac Ltd and not to Polidano 
Bros Ltd.  Therefore, he failed to understand how his colleagues argued that the fact 
that Polidano Group was not a juridical entity in this case and Gatt Tarmac Ltd were 
sub-contractors, the appeal should be considered as ‘null and void’.  In this respect 
they could also argue that there was no sentence or exclusion in the first place.   
 
Dr Cremona proceeded by considering the ‘Tender Guarantee’ issue and he rebutted 
the other parties’ remarks on this matter by stating that in his letter of rejection, the 
Director General Contracts did not say that the tender guarantee was not in order but 
that the offer was excluded due to alleged obscurity in the identity of the tenderer.  In 
actual fact the reason given was that:  
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‘The offer was not in compliance with the Tender Dossier since the identity of the 
tenderer submitting the tender is obscure because whilst the tender guarantee 
identified M/S Gatt Development Limited for Gatt Tarmac as the tenderer, the Tender 
Form did not identify the name of the tenderer.’ 
 
He contended that the fact that the Evaluation Committee proceeded with the opening 
of the second envelope was a confirmation that the tender guarantee was valid since 
otherwise the remaining two envelopes would have been discarded unopened.  Apart 
from this, the validity of the tender guarantee was confirmed during these proceeding 
by the testimony given by Mr. Theuma and Dr Borg Costanzi respectively.  Also,  
Mr Zarb testified that the tender guarantee, as presented, safeguarded the public 
interests and that the Attorney General’s advice comforted his version.  
 
Dr Cremona said that, according to the Tender Dossier, the tenderers were obliged to 
submit a valid tender guarantee for the amount of Lm 25,000 issued by a Maltese 
bank in favour of the Contracting Authority. It was not specified that the tenderer had 
to furnish a valid bank guarantee in his “own name” or out of “own funds”.  He said 
that it was confirmed by the Attorney General that a bank guarantee issue by a 
person/legal entity in favour of a third part was valid at law.  In the circumstances, the 
bid bond furnished by Polidano Bros Ltd was valid and compliant with the Tender 
Dossier.    
 
Dr Cremona said that this issue should be considered in the context that a tender 
guarantee was intended exclusively to safeguard the interests of the Contracting 
Authority at pre-award stage only. As soon as the Contracting Authority awarded the 
contract, the tender guarantee would be withdrawn and replaced by a performance 
bond amounting to 10% of the contract price.  
 
The appellants’ legal representative also placed major emphasis on the fact that they 
were not appealing because of the invalidity of the tender guarantee but from the 
decision taken by the Director General Contracts to exclude Polidano Bros Ltd’s bid 
because of alleged obscurity on the identity of the tenderer. He said that they were not 
contesting the mistake made by Mr. Caruana when the latter copied the term ‘Partner 
4’ from the electronic text of another tender document which he was simultaneously 
compiling for Polidano Bros Ltd and which named Polidano Bros Ltd as Partner 4.  It 
was evident that a human error was committed in the Partner 4 designation.  
However, the Evaluation Committee felt that this mistake was beyond redemption and 
clarification. He said that Gatt Tarmac Ltd, who were subcontracted to carry out 30% 
of the project in accordance with the requirements of the Tender Dossier, featured 
only on one page (Sub-contractors’ Form 4.6.3).  All the other pages in the tender 
document contained detailed and consistent information relating to Polidano Bros Ltd 
as the only company submitting the tender. This was a proof that the tender was not 
being submitted as a Joint Venture. Furthermore, he maintained that, in view of the 
fact that two out of three tenderers were identified at the opening session; the third 
could be no one other than Polidano Bros Ltd. Therefore, it could not be argued that 
the designation as Partner 4 could have led the Evaluation Committee to some 
confusion or, worse still, to obscurity in the identity of the Tenderer!  So, the problem 
could have been ‘the tender guarantee’ because this was provided by a third party, 
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However, Dr Cremona contended that this was not indicated as one of the reasons for 
the rejection of the tender.   
 
Also, he questioned whether it was justified to disqualify a tenderer from a Lm2 
million contract simply because a ‘Partner 4’ designation was written instead of the 
word ‘Leader’.  He said that in spite of the fact that the notice ‘SUMMARY OF 
TENDERS RECEIVED’ which was published on the notice board of the Department 
of Contracts contained the words ‘Req further clarification’ next to Polidano’s bid, no 
clarifications were sought.  Dr Cremona was of the opinion that the Evaluation 
Committee should have asked the tenderer to clarify the matter.  The fact that it did 
not seek clarification was “a great example of bad administration”. 
 
Dr Cremona proceeded by referring to the fact that when the Chairperson of the 
Evaluation Committee was asked to state the basis on which criterion [out of the two 
available at law, i.e. the Most Economically Advantageous Tender (MEAT) or the 
lowest price] would the contract be adjudicated, she unequivocally and wrongly 
declared “MEAT” when in actual fact Article 31.1 of the Tender Dossier specifically 
stated that the criterion to be used was the ‘lowest price’.  He contended that there 
could not be competition with one tenderer. 
  
At this point Dr Frendo took over the floor stating that this appeal was based on 
formalities.  He was of the opinion that if the PCAB would conclude that the 
Evaluation Committee had to seek clarification then it would have no alternative but 
to quash that decision.  Also, if it was not yet clear whether such clarification should 
be sought, then the PCAB, as an authority of last resort, should request to seek 
clarification from the competent European authority.  
 
Dr Frendo said that, according to the provisions of the law, the Director General 
Contracts was obliged to issue, administer and determine the procurement process 
(Regulation 33 of LN 299/2003).  He questioned where the Director General 
Contracts featured in these procedures, arguing that the said Director, somehow, was 
reduced to a mere rubberstamp. Dr Frendo contended that the Ministry for Gozo 
should have never appointed the Evaluation Committee as, such appointment, should 
have been made by the Director General Contracts.  As a matter of fact, Dr Frendo 
also claimed that the Director of Contracts had reneged on fully assuming his 
responsibilities “to issue, administer and determine the contract”.   
 
Furthermore he insisted that in view of the fact that in Article 5 (2) (l) of LN 299 of 
2003 it was specified that it was the function of the Director General Contracts ‘to 
institute and to defend any judicial or arbitral proceedings that may be necessary in 
relation to any contract awarded by him’, it was the Director General Contracts who 
had to be a party in these proceedings defending the decision taken and not the 
Ministry for Gozo.  
 
He concluded by stating that, in the prevailing circumstances, the decision of the 
Department of Contracts should be quashed because of serious breach of public 
procurement legislation.  
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Dr Galea, the Ministry for Gozo’s legal representative, said that the Planning and 
Priorities Coordination Division (PPCD) within the Office of the Prime Minister 
(OPM) has been designated as the Managing Authority in terms of Article 9 (l) Reg 
EC 1260/99 by Cabinet decision 405/2005 of the 20 September 2000. He said that 
according to the Manual of Procedures for Structural Funds 2004 – 2006 issued by 
the said authority, the Evaluation Committee had to be appointed by the final 
beneficiary (FB).  He tabled extracts of the Manual of Procedures and highlighted the 
relevant parts.  In this case the final beneficiary of this project were the Ministry for 
Gozo and the Malta Transport Authority (ADT).  Paragraph 7.5, referring to 
‘Evaluation Committees’, specified that ‘Tenderers will be evaluated by means of an 
Evaluation Committee (including tendering procedures for less than Lm 20,000) 
recommended and appointed by the head of the FB responsible for the contract.’   
 
He said that the Ministry for Gozo appointed the Evaluation Committee in accordance 
with the Manual of Procedures and in consultation with the Director of Contracts.  
The opening of tenders was done in the presence and under the surveillance of the 
representatives of the Director General Contracts.  The Chairperson and Members of 
the Evaluation Committee declared that they consulted continuously with the Director 
General Contracts’ officials and their recommendations were studied and the final 
decision was made by the Director General Contracts based on such 
recommendations. The Evaluation Committee rejects the claim that the Director of 
Contracts said that he did not know what was going on.  It had to be acknowledged 
that it was impossible for the Director General Contracts to monitor personally the 
evaluation process of each tender.  The fact that he was not present during evaluation 
stage was irrelevant because the decision was made on the Evaluation Committee’s 
report and acted accordingly. However, when the Director General Contracts issued 
the rejection letter, he was assuming responsibility for that decision.  Thus the 
statement made in para 3.2.6 (appellants’ written submission) that ‘the Director has 
been divested of his role at law’ was not correct.  Furthermore, he asserted that the 
adjudication process of this contract was transparent and that the procedures were 
strictly observed.   
 
Dr Galea maintained that the points mentioned under para 8.1 of the appellants’ 
submission regarding the nullity of the tendering process and the referral of the matter 
to the EU, should not be taken into consideration because it is considered to be 
irrelevant as only the issue of obscurity regarding the identity of the tenderer was 
mentioned in their objection.  
 
With regards to the issue of the Tender Guarantee, Dr Galea stated that the said 
guarantee that was issued by the Bank of Valletta plc “by order of Gatt Development 
Ltd for Gatt Tarmac Ltd” was not invalid.  However, there was lack of clarity because 
the tender guarantee identified Gatt Tarmac Ltd as the ‘Tenderer’ when they were 
only sub-contractors and also because the tenderer was Polidano Bros Ltd.  Therefore, 
he argued that, once Gatt Tarmac Ltd were not the ‘tenderer’, they were not assuming 
any binding obligation towards the Director of Contracts.  He said that a third party 
could stand as ‘surety’ but, in that case, the guarantee should have been issued as 
‘Gatt Tarmac Ltd acting as surety for Polidano Bros Ltd’.  Therefore, he argued that  
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if the Director General Contracts were to call upon the tender guarantee he would be 
laying himself open to an action for damages.   
 
At this stage Dr Galea stated that, in his opinion, the regulations applicable in this 
case were those of 2003 (LN 299 of 2003) even though the letter of refusal indicated 
LN 177 of 2005. He said that there was no substantive difference between the two 
legal notices and the matter had no bearing on the ultimate decision.  
 
On this issue of ‘MEAT’ vis-à-vis ‘Lowest Price’, the Ministry for Gozo’s legal 
representative said that, with all due respect, it was premature because one had to 
consider the parameter within which to evaluate the tender when the 3rd Envelope is 
eventually opened. 
 
Finally, Dr Galea said that the Evaluation Committee was obliged to seek 
‘clarifications’ subject to such clarifications being solely of a technical nature.   
 
Dr Demarco commenced his intervention by saying that appellants admitted that they 
had committed errors in the submission of their tender.  Therefore, the other party 
could not blame their mistakes on others.  Furthermore, in view of the fact that this 
was a tender of Lm2 million, bidders were expected to take matters even more 
seriously.   
 
He said that the Evaluation Committee was faced with a situation where the 
appellant’s package was not identified; the tender guarantee (Envelope 1) identified 
Gatt Tarmac Ltd as the tenderer; in the 2nd Envelope, Polidano Bros Ltd was 
identified as Partner 4 and Gatt Tarmac Ltd as sub-contractor; each and every page 
of the tender document was signed by both Polidano Bros Ltd & Gatt Tarmac Ltd; 
and the name of Polidano Bros Ltd did not feature on the tender guarantee.  
 
He contended that these mistakes merited the disqualification of the tender because 
nothing was clear, hence the ‘obscurity’.    
 
Dr Demarco said that LN 299/2003 was replaced by LN 177/2005 on 3 June 2005 and 
therefore all procedures after that date are to be regulated by the new law. They were 
arguing that Polidano’s appeal was invalid because once it was lodged on 14 July 
2005, namely, one month after LN 177/2005 came into force, then it should not have 
been filed in terms of Article 102 (4) of LN 299/2003 as the latter was no longer 
effective.  He said that the purpose of the reproduction of pertinent appeals 
regulations in the tender dossier was intended to make tenderers aware that, in case of 
rejection, they had a right of appeal and, should they decide to appeal, such 
regulations described the procedure that had to be followed. In actual fact even the 
Director General (Contracts) in his letter of rejection quoted LN 177/2005 as the basis 
of his rejection.  Dr Demarco emphasised that it was not a question that the new 
regime was to be applied retroactively. 
 
Dr Demarco rebutted the other party’s arguments by stating that they would not have 
raised the issue of the validity or otherwise of the tender guarantee if Gatt Tarmac Ltd 
was the tenderer.  However, when the 2nd Envelope was opened, it transpired that Gatt  
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Tarmac Ltd was a sub-contractor and also that, according to the appellants, the 
tenderer was Polidano Bros Ltd.  In the circumstance this was not only an issue of 
obscurity but also a direct contradiction between Envelope 1 and Envelope 2 as far as 
the identity of the tenderer was concerned. MACJoint Venture’s legal representative 
proceeded by stating that the law stipulated that a ‘guarantor’ could act as ‘surety’ for 
the obligations of a third party but this could only be done in writing as surety could 
never be presumed.  The tender guarantee submitted by Gatt Tarmac Ltd did not 
indicate that it was acting as surety for the obligations of Polidano Bros Ltd.  The 
name of the latter was not even mentioned in tender guarantee.     
 
Mr Theuma’s and Dr Borg Costanzi’s testimonies were referred to by Dr Demarco.  
He claimed that in these testimonies both witnesses testified that, in case of eventual 
default, the Director General Contracts would be paid because the tender guarantee 
could be called on demand.  However, when specifically asked what would they do if 
they received a request for the withdrawal of the guarantee on the grounds that 
Polidano Bros Ltd withdrew from the tender, both answered that they would have to 
refer. Also it was revealed that if the Director General Contracts were to mention 
Polidano Bros Ltd in his claim, he would be requested to remove it, otherwise the 
bank would not pay.  However, he pointed out that there was another relationship 
between the guarantor and the beneficiary because in the event that the bank paid the 
Director General Contracts, Gatt Tarmac Ltd could sue the beneficiary for damages 
stating that it was not tenderer.   
 
Dr Demarco insisted that the Evaluation Committee was not obliged to seek 
clarifications if it had doubts on the identity of the tenderer.   He said that the law was 
very clear on this issue because it specified that ‘The Director of Contracts or, with 
his authorisation, any contracting authority, shall have the right to seek clarifications 
on points of a technical nature to enable a proper evaluation of any tender, which, 
however, would at that stage have already been declared to be basically compliant.’   
 
MAC Joint Venture’s legal representative proceeded by saying that by the statement 
‘While the Commission’s evaluation committees are not obliged to seek clarification 
in every case where a tender is ambiguously drafted, they have a duty to exercise a 
certain degree of care when considering the content of each tender’ (page 32 of 
appellant’s submission), the Court of First Instance was not obliging the Evaluation 
Committee to seek clarification on each issue.  Furthermore although it was stated that 
“In cases where the terms of a tender itself and the surrounding circumstances known 
to the Commission indicate that the ambiguity probably has a simple explanation and 
is capable of being easily resolved, then, in principle, it is contrary to the 
requirements of good administration for an evaluation committee to reject a tender 
without exercising its power to seek clarification”, Dr Demarco contended that this 
was not a case which required a simple explanation because in Envelope No 1 the 
Tenderer was identified as being Gatt Tarmac Ltd and in Envelope No 2 as Polidano 
Bros Ltd.  According to Dr Demarco, this was a case of a total contradiction regarding 
the identification of the tenderer.   
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He alleged that only three pages out of thirty-eight pages in the note of submission 
presented by appellants were directly related to the issues mentioned in their letter of 
objection. 
 
With regard to the court case / sentence mentioned in the appellants’ submission, Dr 
Demarco said that no Court or authority was bound by a sentence of another Court.  
 
At one point during his intervention, Dr Demarco said that insinuations had been 
made on the integrity of the Ministry for Gozo, the Evaluation Committee and Dr 
Carmelo Galea.  Dr Frendo, Dr Cremona and Dr Camilleri vehemently objected as 
regards the fact that they had passed any remarks against the integrity of their 
colleague, Dr Galea, and asked Dr Demarco to withdraw such comments.  Dr 
Demarco confirmed that the remarks towards Dr Galea were not passed during the 
public hearings. The Chairman PCAB made reference to the article featured on the 
‘Independent on Sunday’ wherein it was reported that Dr Galea had a conflict of 
interest. Also, he pointed out that since this issue was never raised by any of the 
interested parties in the first place, as well as the fact that there was no proof of 
allegations made, the Board would not be conditioned by the contents of this article 
during its deliberations leading to a final decision.  All represented parties in principle 
agreed with this line of reasoning. 
 
Dr Demarco went on to conclude his intervention by stating that the appellants had to 
accept that they made a mistake in the formulation and submission of the tender and, 
as a consequence, they should allow the process to continue.  He claimed that the 
decision to disqualify the appellants’ tender was good because it failed to comply with 
the requirements of the tender dossier.  The fact that the value of the tender was 
substantial meant that the tenderers had more responsibility. 
 
Dr Delia said that the mistake appellants made when they did not put the name of the 
tenderer on the outer envelope had immediate repercussion on the whole tendering 
process. He argued that if the outer envelope were marked with the name of the 
tenderer, the Evaluation Committee would have immediately realised that the tender 
guarantee (Envelope 1) was irregular and the remaining packages would have been 
discarded unopened. The mistake continued to escalate because when the Director of 
Contracts informed the appellants that they had been disqualified, he addressed the 
letter of rejection to Polidano Group and Gatt Tarmac Ltd. The first had no legal 
entity in this case whatsoever and the latter was a sub-contractor. The actual tenderer 
was Polidano Bros Ltd.  Furthermore, Dr Delia contended that the actual tenderer did 
not even submit an appeal. 
 
With regard to the statement, ‘It instead proceeded to open the second envelope 
thereby confirming and ratifying the existence of a valid tender guarantee’ (3rd para of 
page 21 of appellants’ legal representatives’ submissions), Dr Delia said that it was 
opened only because (i) at that stage the Evaluation Committee did not know that the 
tenderer was Polidano Bros Ltd and (ii) the Tender Guarantee identified Gatt Tarmac 
Ltd as the Tenderer. 
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Dr Delia said that all points mentioned in the appellants’ submission under 5 – ‘Third 
Party (subcontractor) Acting as surety’ should be discarded because these were 
irrelevant to this case. 
 
Also, referring to the same written submissions presented by appellants’ legal 
representatives, Dr Delia said that 6.7 was the only point relevant to this case because 
Polidano Group had no juridical entity in this instance and the fact that it was 
mentioned first in the letter of rejection did not mean that it was the tenderer. 
 
Dr Delia concluded by saying that, with regard to 7.5 of the same submission, 
appellants’ legal representatives should not have mentioned only clause 28.2 but also 
clauses 28.1 and 28.3 of the tender dossier because the tender documents did not 
comply with the requirements of the tender dossier.    
 
On his part, Dr Grima commenced his oral submission by referring to the use of the 
words ‘shall’ and ‘must’ in the relevant law which, according to him, implied that the 
Director of Contracts and the Evaluation Committee were not given discretionary 
power. This was done on purpose to avoid disputes.  In this case, Dr Grima said, the 
fact that the tenderer failed to adhere strictly to the requirements of the tender dossier 
and regulations meant that the Director General Contracts was obliged to discard the 
tender. Dr Grima said that such failing scenarios included the fact that (i) the name of 
the tenderer was not marked on the outer envelope and (ii) the tender guarantee 
indicated the tenderer as a person different from the tenderer.   
 
Referring to other matters, Dr Grima said that the PCAB was the judicial body of last 
resort.    No Court of last resort should seek advice from another court because of the 
independence of the judiciary, which, together with the parliament and executive, 
were the three pillars of the rule of law.   
 
At this stage all legal representatives were given one last opportunity to clarify or 
highlight any issues they felt pertinent, reasonable and justified. 
 
Dr Frendo said that, after having heard all the lawyers, the PCAB could appreciate the 
difference in the approach of the two sides; whilst the appellants’ legal 
representatives’ approach was constructive, the approach adopted by the other parties 
was destructive.  One of the reasons why they were requesting the PCAB to be re-
instated in the tendering process was to ensure that the contract be awarded to that 
tenderer who had the lowest and best offer and to ensure that the element of 
competition prevailed since otherwise the scope of the tendering process would be 
defeated.  He argued that the approach of the other party was destructive because they 
raised the issue of the applicability of the law and they mentioned Polidano Group 
instead of Polidano Bros Ltd in their letter of objection. 
 
He did not agree that the final beneficiary was the Ministry for Gozo.  Dr Frendo said 
that he believed that the final beneficiary should have been the Director General 
Contracts and/or the Chairman ADT.  He alleged that the Evaluation Committee  
interpreted the doubt in favour of exclusion rather than in favour of who had the best  
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tender.   Dr Frendo reiterated that, as a consequence, the process should be continued 
with the inclusion of Polidano Bros Ltd. 
 
With regard to the Manual of Procedures, Dr Frendo said that these were just 
guidelines and, therefore, were not intended to substitute in any way the relevant 
regulations.  However, he noted that not even these guidelines were followed because 
although it was stipulated that ‘it was important to ensure transparency and 
competition’ there could be no competition with one tenderer in the final phase.   
 
Dr Cremona referred to the fact that the Evaluation Committee should have been 
appointed by the Department of Contracts.  He made reference to the sentence under 
Section 7.10 of their written submission referring to the relevance of ECJ and CFI 
rulings on all national courts and tribunals and the repercussions in state liability if a 
local tribunal went against such sentences.   
 
Dr Camilleri, said that in his opinion, the process of adjudication adopted by the 
Evaluation Committee was bad practice because the purpose of the adjudication was 
not to exclude but to retain an element of competition.  
 
According to Dr Galea, the regulations specified that the Director General Contracts 
should administer the tender, however, it was impossible for him to evaluate all 
tenders, and therefore he is allowed to appoint an Evaluation Committee.  The 
Curriculum Vitae (CV) of the Evaluation Committee was submitted to the Department 
of Contracts.   
 
He denied that the Evaluation Committee was in favour of exclusion of Polidano Bros 
Ltd and Gatt Tarmac Ltd because in spite of the fact that their outer envelope was not 
marked with the name of the tenderer, they accepted to proceed with the opening of 
Envelope No 1.  The same applied to the tender guarantee, because although it did not 
conform exactly with the tender dossier, the Evaluation Committee accepted it on the 
advice of the Director of Contracts and proceeded with the opening of Envelope No 2.  
This was done precisely because they wanted competition.  However the bone of 
contention was that the name of the tenderer on the bank guarantee was different from 
that indicated in the Tender Forms. 
 
Dr Delia said that the PCAB was not the forum to decide regarding the composition 
and experience of the Evaluation Committee.    He said that if the appellants were not 
satisfied with the final decision taken by the PCAB, they had other remedies by 
referring the matter to the First Hall of the Civil Court. 
 
On his part, Dr Demarco said that, with regard to the applicability of the law, it 
appeared that the lawyers of the appellants did not understand the distinction between 
aspects of substance and those of procedure.  As regards substance, the tender should 
be adjudicated on the basis of LN 299/2003; however, LN 177/2005 should regulate 
the procedure governing the appeal.   
 
According to Dr Demarco, with regard to ‘MEAT’ and ‘lower price’ which were the 
guiding principles of evaluation, each tenderer had to follow certain formalities.  Once  
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it was proven that the appellant did not adhere to the tender dossier’s requirements, 
then the above criterion was rendered irrelevant.   
 
As regards transparency, he said that it was precisely because of this that they could 
not risk to negotiate and seek clarification on error/s submitted by the tenderer on 
issues that could not be clarified.  Dr Demarco pointed out that any such request for 
clarification must not seek the correction of formal errors.  He said that this was not a 
case of simple explanation because it concerned a formal error regarding the identity 
of the tenderer. 
 
Dr Demarco brought his intervention to an end by arguing that the PCAB was not a 
tribunal of last instance because appellants could seek remedy in the First Hall of the 
Civil Court.   However, Dr Frendo intervened by stating his disagreement claiming 
that the PCAB was a quasi-judicial tribunal of last instance in this appeal, with 
appellants having right of recourse to the Commission if the PCAB took the wrong 
decision on grounds of a wrong statement of the law.   
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After the public hearings were concluded, the Board proceeded with its deliberations 
and reached its decision as stated hereunder. 
 
The Public Contracts Appeals Board, having considered the following issues, namely: 
 
 
Legislation governing appeal – LN299 / 2003 or LN 177 / 2005 
 
The Board considered the fact that the legal provisions were changed in the 
intervening period between the issue of the tender document and the lodging of the 
Appeal.  The Board believes that lea way should therefore be allowed in the 
circumstances. 
 
Moreover, the Board also considered that substantially, regulation LN 177 / 2005 and 
LN 299 / 2003 are identical. 
 
The Board, therefore, considers that the request for annulment of the appeal as 
requested by MAC Joint Venture should not be entertained because this would 
constitute an injustice to appellants denying them the right of redress. 
 
 
 
‘Locus standi’ of the Ministry for Gozo  
 
The Board noted that appellants contend that the Ministry for Gozo had no ‘locus 
standi’ in the proceedings and therefore should not have been allowed to submit its 
representations and the oral and written submissions should not have been considered 
during the whole process. 
 
The Board notes that the Ministry for Gozo has been delegated by Government with 
various responsibilities, amongst which those for road maintenance and construction 
although ADT remains responsible for the regulatory aspects.  The Board therefore 
considers that the status of the Ministry for Gozo can be accepted as the final 
beneficiary.  As the final beneficiary, the Board agrees that the Ministry for Gozo has 
a definite ‘locus standi’ 
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Breach of Regulation 33 and the invalisity of the award procedure 
 
According to appellants, the procurement regime of this Contract was applied 
incorrectly because Reg. 33 of LN 299 / 2003 states: 
 
“Provided that public contracts required by those contracting authorities listed in 
schedule 2 shall be issued, administered and determined by the Department of 
Contracts, which for the purposes of these regulations shall act on their behalf; 
and public contracts required by those contracting authorities listed in Schedule 3 
shall be issued, administered and determined by the contracting authorities listed 
subject to the provisions set out in these regulations.” 
 
Appellants argue that the appointment of the Evaluation Committee should have been 
made by the Director of Contracts and not by the Ministry for Gozo and therefore the 
appointment is null and void since, in their opinion, this directly contravenes the 
provision of the above regulations. 
 
The Board considers that although legislation clearly lays down the responsibility for 
public procurement in certain cases on the Director of Contracts, it is the normal 
practice that the evaluation of the tender submitted is carried out by technical boards 
appointed by the Departments or entities on whose behalf the tender has been issued.  
 
Moreover, during the last sitting, Dr Galea presented a Manual of Procedure wherein 
it is clearly shown that the appointment of the evaluation committee is to be made by 
the final beneficiary responsible for the contract. 
 
The Board accepts that the document presented is the official document governing 
procedures in such cases and therefore accepts that the procedure adopted in respect 
of this tender was correct. 
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Validity of Tender Guarantee 
 
The Board notes that from the evidence submitted, it appears that at the time when 
Envelope No.1 of Tender No. 3 was opened, the Guarantee was issued in the name of 
Gatt Development Limited for Gatt Tarmac Limited identifying them as the 
‘tenderer’. 
 
At that moment, the question of the real identity of Tenderer No. 3 had not yet 
materialized and, therefore, the decision taken by the Director of Contracts to accept 
the tender guarantee having deemed such Guarantee sufficient to safeguard the 
interests of the Government was justified.  Furthermore, this Board agrees that such 
decision was not taken within the context of the problem that arose later regarding the 
identity of the ‘tenderer’. 
 
When the bid for tender no. 3 was opened, it became evident that the tender was not 
submitted by Gatt Tarmac Limited and at this stage it became clear that the Guarantee 
was not serving the purposes for which it was made in the first place. 
 
Moreover, the evidence given both by Mr Theuma and Dr Borg Costanzi served to 
bring out the confusion that the Guarantee could have created, going so far as to have 
Dr Borg Costanzi stating that he might even have to consult with his client, Gatt Bros. 
 
It also became evident that had the Director of Contracts demanded payment without 
advising the Bank of the tenderer’s identity, such action could have possibly rendered 
him liable for damages. 
 
In their submissions, the appellants appeared to have played down the importance of 
this Guarantee in the knowledge that at a later stage, a Performance Bond would be 
issued instead. 
 
The Board considers that the Bid Bond was a clear requirement of the Tender 
Document and the fact that a Guarantee was produced which, in the opinion of this 
Board did not satisfy this Tender Document, cannot be argued away. 
 
The principle cannot be accepted that tenderers can pick and choose from a Tender 
Document which are the more or lesser important features and proceed according to 
their subjective estimation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Page 29 of 98 

 
 
Third Party (subcontractor) acting as ‘surety’ 
 
The Board acknowledges that a Bank Guarantee issued on behalf of a person or legal 
entity in favour of a third party is valid at law, provided, however, that such 
Guarantee clearly indicates the identities of the third party. 
 
In this case the guarantee carried no indication whatsoever that it had been made to 
cover the responsibilities of other persons such as Polidano Bros. 
 
Had Gatt Tarmac issued this guarantee on behalf of Polidano Bros., the matter would 
have been different. 
 
 
 
Alleged conflict between the names appearing on the Tender Guarantee and the 
Tender Form 
 
It may be agreed that if one were discussing this issue in isolation, the indication 
given in the tender form of Polidano Brothers as ‘Partner 4’, the case could be 
relatively simple.   
 
However, the case needs to be examined in its complexity and, therefore, one has to 
associate the above ‘mistake’ with the fact that the Tender Guarantee was issued by 
Bank of Valletta to the order of Gatt Development Ltd for Gatt Tarmac Ltd, the 
‘tenderer’.   
 
Also according to the testimony of the members of the adjudicating board the tender 
package had no indication upon it as to the identity of the ‘tenderer’. This requirement  
arises out of the provisions of clause 14.2.3.e. of the tender document.  Messrs. 
Farrugia and Caruana, witnesses brought forward by the appellant gave evidence that 
the packages were stamped but the PCAB on balance feels that this evidence was not 
as concrete as that given by the members of the adjudication board and therefore 
considers that it is highly probable the tender document was not marked as it should 
have been. 

 
It is true that in the same tender document Polidano Bros. Ltd. were indicated in 
various sections as the tenderers, however in the same document there also appear 
certain details in regard to the organization of Gatt Tarmac Ltd. who, as sub-
contractors, did not need to produce.  This could only have served to compound the 
confusion of who actually is the responsible ‘tenderer’. 

 



 Page 30 of 98 

 
 

 
Application of local legislation 
 
The Board feels that Maltese legislation reigns supreme. 
  
From the evidence heard and submissions made the Board feels that this is sufficient 
to allow the Board to form a clear opinion within the context of local legislation and it 
does not therefore deem that it should go beyond this. 
 
 
 
Clarifications 
 
Also, with regards to the submission made that this case could and should have been 
resolved by the Evaluation Committee seeking clarifications, the Board is of the 
opinion that the extent of the obscurities was such that these were not amenable to 
simple clarifications.  Indeed, the Board feels that any attempt at clarification between 
the Evaluation Committee and the tenderers could well have developed into a series of 
negotiations which are clearly inadmissible under the provisions contemplated in a 
tendering process. 
 
 
 
Competition 
 
While the Board agrees that healthy competition should be fostered, it can never 
concede that tenders which are submitted in a flawed or obscure manner, for whatever 
reason, should be allowed to proceed. 
 
 
 
Insufficient attention 
 
Finally, the Board notes that the evidence given indicates that insufficient attention 
was given to the formulation of this tender in spite of its magnitude, a fact which 
should have merited a greater sense of responsibility and therefore attracted greater 
attention in its compilation.  
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In consequence, the Board has decided to reject the complaint raised by the appellant 
and authorises the tender award procedure to continue with the exclusion of 
appellant’s bid. 
 
Moreover, the Board has also concluded that, in terms of the provisions of regulation 
102 (4) of the Public Procurement Regulations 2005, the deposit paid by Appellant 
cannot be refunded. 
 
 
 
 
 
Alfred R. Triganza   Anthony Pavia  Edwin Muscat 
Chairman    Member   Member 
 
 
 
 
Date:        7th October 2005 
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Attachment ‘A’  
 
Written submissions in connection with the appeal lodged by ‘Polidano Group 
and Gatt Tarmac Limited’ (“The Appellants”) in term s of the letter dated 8th 

July 2005 issued by the Director General (Contracts) and in terms of regulation 
102(4) of LN 299/2003 quoted in Article 38 of the Tender Dossier pertaining to 
Tender Number CT2616/2004. 
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Attachment ‘B’  
 
Note of submissions of MAC Joint Venture made up of Road Construction 
Company Limited (Leader), Bonnici Brothers Limited and Zrar Limited, C&F 
Building Contractors Limited and Schembri Infrastru ctures Limited 
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Attachment ‘C’  
 

Statement of facts and legal submissions on the merits of the case 
presented on behalf of the Evaluation Committee.  
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     09 September 2005 
The Secretary 
Public Contracts Appeals Board 
Floriana. 
 
Sir, 
Re: `Tender CT2616/2004 – Appeal by Polidano Bros. Ltd. 
 
On behalf of the Evaluation Committee I am hereby submitting 
their statement of facts and legal submissions on the merits of the 
case.  
 
Chronological statement of facts. 
 
The tender in  question was of the type ‘three separate packages’ as 
described in regulation 102 of Legal Notice 299/2003, and later in 
section 82 of Subsidiary Legislation 174.04 later incorporated into 
Legal Notice 177/2005. The  opening of these packages has to 
follow the procedure laid down in that regulation, and in fact this 
procedure was strictly followed by the Evaluation Committee. 
 
There were three competing tenders for this particular contract, 
each of which was contained in a sealed box. Whereas two of the 
tenders had the name of  the tenderer printed on the box, the third 
one was contained in a plain, unmarked box bearing no 
identification as to the tenderer who had submitted it. Nor  did it 
have any indication of  the name or identity of the tenderer on the 
wrapping of the box itself. (This tender shall hereinafter be referred 
to as ‘Tender No. 3’) 
 
Tenders were opened publicly, in the presence of the Contracts 
committee and those members of the public who may have felt 
they had an interest in the proceedings. Upon noting the fact that 
Tender No. 3 did not have any indication as to the tenderer shown 
upon it, the Chairperson asked for directions from the officials of 
the  Department of Contracts who happened to be  
supervising/assisting the session on whether she should open that 
particular envelope/box, or ignore it as annulled. She was directed 
to open it, even though strictly speaking in terms of the relative 
regulations the whole tender should have been considered as null. 
Reference is here made to the ‘Tender Document’ paragraph 
14.2.3.(e) page 35/36 which states that ‘Tenders must satisfy the 
following conditions: ‘all tenders including annexes and all  
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supporting documents must be submitted in sealed envelopes / 
packages bearing only …(e) the tenderer’s name’; as well as to the 
‘Supply Tender Opening Checklist’ ‘Publication  Reference 
CT2616/2004’ precisely to paragraph 6 box 2 ‘For each tender  
envelope, the Chairman and  Secretary announce and  check that 
the  summary of tenders received correctly records: … the name of 
the tenderer’. At the time it was correctly felt that the tenderer 
involved should be given the benefit of the doubt and should not be 
disqualified for mere violation of this requirement. 
 
Envelope 1 of each tender was supposed to contain the ‘tender 
guarantee’. Envelope  1 of Tender No. 3 contained a tender 
guarantee issued  ‘by order of  Gatt Development Ltd for Gatt 
Tarmac Ltd’. The guarantor was Bank of Valletta plc and The 
Director of Contracts was indicated as the beneficiary. This 
guarantee identified ‘Gatt  Tarmac Ltd’  as  the tenderer/contractor. 
Although this guarantee did not follow the exact format, or 
reproduce the precise wording, of the tender guarantee form (page 
59 of the ‘Tender document’) it was again felt that the guarantee 
was substantially similar to the form set down  by the tender 
document and it was again decided to proceed with opening 
envelope 2 of Tender No. 3.  
 
Upon opening envelope 2 of Tender 3, further and more serious 
irregularities came to light. The Tender form therein contained 
failed to identify the ‘leader’ of the tender. Nor was there any 
indication of the identity of Partners 1, 2 and 3 of the tender. 
Partner 4 was identified as ‘Messrs Polidano Bros. Ltd’. Gatt 
Developments Limited and Gatt  Tarmac Limited did not feature at 
all on the Tender form, but they were shown as subcontractors in 
Form 4.6.3 submitted in terms of Volume 1 Section 4 of the 
Tender  Dossier. 
 
Legal advice was sought from the Attorney General on the validity 
of this tender as per letter dated the 16th March 2005. This advise 
was given as per  letter of the 11th April 2005. 
 
Acting on the advice contained in the last paragraph of the 
Attorney General’s letter, and basing itself on the facts as 
ascertained by it, the  Evaluation  Committee decided at its fifth 
meeting held on the 26th  April 2005 to recommend to the  Director 
of Contracts to consider Tender No. 3 as inadmissible. A letter to 
that effect was drafted and was actually sent to the Director 
Contracts on  the 26th  April 2005.  
 
The  Contracts Committee confirmed the decision reached by the 
Evaluation  Committee,  and subsequently the Director of 
Contracts effectively acted on these recommendations and rejected 
the tender as invalid.  
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LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS INVOLVED. 
Reference should here be made to regulation 102 of Legal Notice 
299/2003. This states that: 

(2) In the process of adjudicating the tender, the 
packages for all tenderers shall be opened in public 
and in the sequence enumerated in the immediately 
preceding sub-regulation. When at any stage, any 
tenderer fails to comply with the tendering 
procedural requirements and, or with the 
specifications, the remaining packages in his tender 
offer are to be discarded unopened;  

 
 
This same provision is reiterated in regulation 82(2) of S.L. 174.04 
(L.N. 177/2005) which states that: 
‘When at any stage, any tenderer fails to comply with the tendering 
procedural requirements and, or with the specifications, the 
remaining packages in his tender offer are to be discarded 
unopened’.  
 
The right for the Director of Contracts to seek  clarifications ‘on 
points of a technical  nature to enable a proper evaluation of any 
tender’ is subject ‘however’ to the condition that that tender 
‘would at that stage have already been  declared to be basically 
compliant’. 
 
It is submitted that Tender No.  3 could not have been declared 
‘basically compliant’ for the following reasons:  
 
It  should  first of all be pointed out, for completeness’ sake that 
the contents of paragraph b of  the letter addressed to the Director 
of Contracts by Thake Desira Advocates on the 22nd March 2005 
are not correct. The ‘relevant page’ regulating the  ‘Tender 
Guarantee’ is not a ‘blank page’. Page 59 regulates the required 
contents of the Tender Guarantee form in great detail. It is 
therefore not correct to state that this relevant page contains ‘no 
other essential requirements … to validate such a tender 
guarantee’.  
 
Paragraph 18 (page 38 of the Tender Dossier) refers to Volume 1, 
Section  3 of the dossier as regulating the Tender Guarantee. Now  
Volume 1 Section 3 does not consist solely of page 58 as Thake 
Desira implicitly seem to argue. Page 58  is only the ‘header page’ 
of that Section and page 59 is an  integral part thereof. It is 
ridiculous for a venture that claims to have invested ‘a significant 
amount  of resources’ in making this offer to claim in the same 
breath that it failed to read through,  or overlooked page 59. 
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Indeed a correct reading of page 59 indicates that one of the most 
essential  requirements was in fact ignored by Tender  No. 3,  viz 
the naming of the contractor, and the  provision of his address: 
‘We the undersigned, (Bank name and address) hereby declare that 
we will guarantee as principal debtor to you on  behalf of 
(contractor’s name and address – bold type reproduced from the 
original).’ 
(‘Contractor’ is defined in the glossary of terms – p. 94 of the 
Tender Dossier – as ‘the tenderer selected at the end of the 
procedure for the award of the contract’). 
 
In spite of the fact that the Tender Guarantee was not in strict 
compliance with those essential requirements,  the  Evaluating 
Committee correctly granted  the tenderer (whom at that stage it 
presumed to be Gatt Development Ltd for Gatt Tarmac Ltd as 
identified in the bank  guarantee submitted to it) the benefit of  the 
doubt,  and  continued with the examination of the contents of 
Envelope 2 of his tender. Hence it is submitted  that the letter of 
the 22nd March 2005 loses all its relevance. 
 
It was the more serious irregularities contained in Envelope 2 and 
the conflicts resulting from the information contained in Envelope 
1 and that contained in Envelope 2 - that ultimately proved fatal to 
Tender  No. 3.  And the consequence or potential consequence of  
such irregularities is pointed out to the tenderer in Bold type in 
page 3 of the Tender Dossier: 
‘Tenderers are expected to examine  carefully and comply with all  
instructions, forms, contract provisions and specifications 
contained in this tender dossier. Failure to submit a tender 
containing all  the required information and documentation within 
the deadline specified may lead to the rejection of the tender’.   
 
The relevant requirements set out in  the Tender Dossier with 
which Tender No. 3 failed to comply include the following: 

a. ‘Information/documents to be supplied by the tenderer’ (pages 28 
through to page 31 of the Tender Dossier). 

b. The ‘Tender Form’ reproduced on page 55 of the Tender Dossier 
was incorrectly filled in,  and this in such a way as to render it  
impossible for the Evaluation Committee to determine whether 
Polidano  Brothers Ltd. was the  sole tenderer, or the ‘leader’ in a 
joint venture, or solely the ‘fourth partner’ in a joint venture. 

c. Indeed that  ‘Tender Form’  specifically states and  makes it 
abundantly clear that ‘if this tender is being submitted by an 
individual tenderer, the name of the tenderer should be 
entered as  a ‘leader’ (and  all  other lines should  be deleted’. 

d. That this tender form reproduced in  page 55 must, under pain of 
rejection, be correctly filled in,  results amply clearly from 
paragraph 14.4.1. (page 36) of the Tender Dossier. Paragraph 14.4 
states that the tender  ‘must comprise the following duly  
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completed documents’.  The use of the word ‘must’ here is 
indicative that failure on  the part of the tenderer to fill in this  
form, and to fill it in correctly, necessarily leads to rejection of  the 
tender. 

e. Nor can  it logically be otherwise: if the identity of the tenderer 
cannot be clearly and inequivocally established from the tender 
form the  Director of Contracts would  find himself in a position of 
being unable to exercise his rights arising out of the tendering  
process effectively and  expeditiously. He could instead find 
himself mired in an  interminable legal  dispute about the identity 
of  his adversary,  when the whole scope  of the rules and  
regulations set out in the Tender Dossier is precisely that of 
avoiding such lack of clarity. In  this scenario,  even executing the 
tender  guarantee might become, if not  impossible,  at least 
extremely complicated, costly and lengthy. 

f. Such  lack of clarity could  indeed serve ulterior and  sinister 
purposes on the part of tenderers who in  some  way or another 
wish to avoid  the legal obligations that  should  have been  
assumed by them  when filing  the tender in the first  place.  

g. In this present case,  this lack of clarity,  coupled with the fact that 
the tender guarantee failed to correctly identify the principal 
contractor involved for the reasons already explained above would 
have made it well nigh impossible for the Director of Contracts to 
execute his rights without becoming involved in interminable 
complications. 

h. It cannot  be argued that the Evaluating Committee is bound  to go 
through the other documents forming part of the Tender document  
with a toothcomb in an effort to determine  the precise identity of 
the tenderer. Its right to  ask for clarification can never be 
transformed into  a duty to make good for  the  deficiencies, 
downright carelessness, and possibly sinister motives of a tenderer 
who, for any reason whatsoever, fails to fill in the Tender Form  
correctly and clearly as required by the  Tender Dossier.  

i. Indeed the right of the Evaluation Committee and/or  the Director 
of Contracts to ask for clarification is, in  terms of the proviso to 
Regulation 102(2) of Legal Notice 299/2003 limited to points of ‘a 
technical nature’. 
 

“Provided that the Director of Contracts or, with 
his authorization, any Contracting Authority, 
shall have the right to seek clarifications on 
points of a technical nature to enable a proper 
evaluation of any tender, which, however, would 
at that stage have already been declared to be 
basically compliant.”  

 
This same provision was later incorporated into regulation 82(2) of  
LN 177/2005 where again one find reference to  ‘points of a 
technical nature’. It should be pointed out in this respect that the  
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law grants the Director of Contracts the right but does not impose an 
obligation on him to seek any clarification. But the most important 
point in this respect is the fact that the precise  identity of  the  tenderer 
involved cannot, by any stretch of the imagination,  be construed as a 
point of a technical  nature. 
j. Even  if  it could  in some way or  another be  argued  that Tender 

No.  3 was some form of joint venture between  Polidano Bros.  
Ltd,  and Gatt Development Limited  or Gatt Tarmac Ltd, it failed 
to comply with the requirements of paragraph 4.3 of the Tender 
dossier. Most specifically it failed to include a preliminary 
agreement stating  that all  partners assume  joint and  several  
liability for  the execution of the contract; and  binding  all partners 
to remain in the joint venture/consortium for the whole  
performance period of the contract. 

k. It  is submitted that the contents of the objection of the 11th July 
2005 are in  effect  an effort by Polidano Bros Ltd to  lay the blame 
for the extremely careless manner in  which Tender  No.  3 was 
filled on the shoulders of the Evaluation Committee.  In  other 
words the objector is claiming  that the  Evaluation  Committee 
was burdened  with the duty of making  good for all the failings 
contained in Tender No.  3. Not only is  this legally incorrect,  but 
it would  also  lead to discrimination  by the  Evaluation  
Committee to the prejudice of all other  tenderers who had 
submitted their Tenders duly filled  in  all material respects.  

l. That letter of objection tries furthermore to draw an argument in 
favour of the objector from  the  fact that the  letter of the 8th July 
was addressed to Polidano  Brothers Limited and  to  Gatt Tarmac 
Limited by saying that this indicates that the Director of Contract 
could at that time  identify the main tenderer and the subcontractor.  
But there is an immense difference between the Director of 
Contracts assuming the identity of the persons  having an interest 
in a particular tender; and the identity and  precise interest of those 
persons being explicitly,  clearly  and unequivocally declared  by 
themselves. It was legitimate for the Director of Contracts to 
assume, on  the 8th July, that Polidano  Brothers Limited was the 
company having an interest in Tender No.  3,  if only because of 
the fact that the  letter by Thake Desira Limited of the 22nd  March 
2005 was written ‘on behalf of Messrs. Polidano  Brothers  
Limited’;  whereas the interest of Gatt Tarmac Limited resulted 
from the  Tender Guarantee contained in package 1.  

m. Much ado was made during the evidence of Mr. Caruana that all 
the forms attached to, or forming part of, the tender mentioned 
Polidano Bros Ltd., and only Polidano Bros. Ltd. Appellants argue 
that this constitutes conclusive evidence that Polidano, and no one 
else, are the tenderers. With all due respect this argument is 
fallacious: even if Polidano Bros. Ltd were only one of a series of 
partners, as in fact they were identified in the tender form,  they 
would have been required to fill in and submit every such form. 
Point 7 on page 62 of the Tender dossier (Additional Notice to 
tenderers) makes this amply clear: ‘each partner in a joint 
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venture/consortium must fill in and submit every form’. The same 
point is  emphasised in Cl.4.3 page 31 of the dossier.  
 
Nor can it be argued (as Thake Desira do in their letter of the 22nd 
March 2005) that the simple fact,  by itself, that the Evaluation 
Committee decided to accept the Tender Guarantee as valid is 
tantamount  to a decision  that all the contents of Envelope 2 of 
Tender  No.  3 were thereby being accepted as valid as well. L.N.  
177/2005 makes it abundantly clear that the acceptance of a first or 
second package as valid does  not preempt or  prevent the rejection  
of  any subsequent package as invalid. (Vide regulation 82). 
 
Furthermore,  paragraph 28 of  the  Tender Dossier (page 45) 
explicitly binds the Evaluation committee to check  that  each 
tender  
’28.1.3 substantially complies with the requirements of these 
tender documents’, 
and  28.3 specifically states that ‘if a tender does not  comply with 
the requirements of  the evaluation  grid, it  will be rejected by the 
evaluation  committee when  checking  admissibility.’ 
 
The final, and perhaps the most important consideration that needs 
to be made is the following: 
 
The tender guarantee submitted in connection with Tender No. 3 
was issued by Bank of Valletta plc “by order of  Gatt Development 
Ltd for Gatt Tarmac Ltd”. No mention was made of Polidano 
Brothers Limited or any other company. Neither Gatt Development 
Ltd, nor Gatt Tarmac Ltd feature in any way in the tender form.  
 
Several issues fall to be considered as a result of this dichotomy: 

a. The Manager of the Victoria Branch of the Bank of Valletta plc as 
well as its senior legal adviser both confirmed that whereas the 
bank would pay on the guarantee if no mention of Polidano Bros 
Ltd was made in the request for payment, they would have second 
thoughts and would need to take further advice if such request for 
payment referred to any third party other than Gatt Development 
Ltd, or Gatt Tarmac Ltd. 

b. Dr. Borg Costanzi also confirmed – and this is a basic legal 
principle in respect of bank guarantees - that a bank guarantee is a 
tripartite legal instrument. It creates a legal relationship between 
the bank and the beneficiary (in this case the Director of Contracts) 
in the sense that the bank is binding itself to pay the beneficiary the 
amount indicated in the guarantee ‘with no questions asked’.  

c. However, it also creates a legal relationship between the 
beneficiary (the Director of Contracts) and the person on whose 
order the guarantee is issued (Gatt Tarmac Ltd/Gatt Development 
Limited). If the beneficiary were in any way to abuse of the bank 
guarantee issued in his favour, the issuer thereof can sue the 
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beneficiary for damages and exercise other means of recourse 
against him. 

d. In this case, Gatt Tarmac Ltd/Gatt Development Ltd are ‘referred 
to as the tenderer’ in the bank guarantee. This guarantee binds the 
bank to pay the amount therein indicated but only in case of failure 
on the tenderer’s part and not on the part of any third party: 
‘in the event that the tenderer withdraws its tender before the 
expiry date, or in the event that the tenderer fails to sign the 
contract and provide the performance bond, if called upon to do so 
in accordance with the tender conditions or in the event that the 
tenderer otherwise fails to fulfil its obligations under the tender 
conditions’. 

e. However Gatt Tarmac Ltd/ Gatt Development Ltd. did not feature 
in any way in the tender document except as sub-contractors. And 
as sub-contractors, they were not assuming  any binding obligation 
towards the Director of Contracts by the mere fact of the 
submission of the tender form by a third party (Polidano Bros.  
Ltd). Consequently it would not be legal to argue that they or either 
of them would have withdrawn the tender before the expiry date, 
failed to sign the contract, or failed to fulfil any obligations under 
the tender document. Consequently, were the Director of Contracts 
to call upon the bank guarantee, and even assuming that the bank 
would have paid up that bank guarantee without raising queries of 
its own, the Director of Contract would technically have abused of 
the bank guarantee. It would consequently be laying itself open to 
an action for damages.  

f. It would also not be inconceivable, given the uncertainties 
surrounding the issue of the bank guarantee, for Gatt Tarmac 
Ltd/Gatt Development Ltd to try and prevent the bank from paying 
up on the guarantee by disputing the fact that they are in fact 
‘tenderers’ in this tender.  

 
It is precisely in an attempt to avoid these uncertainties that the 
Tender dossier sets out the guarantee form in great detail, and 
furthermore stipulates that the guarantee form has to be provided 
by the tenderer and not by someone else. With all due respect, the 
issue is not about whether a person can stand surety to a third party 
with or without that person’s knowledge. It is about whether the 
bank guarantee provided by Gatt Tarmac Limited/Gatt 
Development Limited could be safely encashed by the Director of 
Contracts, in respect of a tender to which they are not parties, and 
without the risk of becoming embroiled in an interminable lawsuit. 
It is humbly submitted that the answer to this question is most 
definitely in the negative. 
 
It is submitted that all these irregularities in  Tender No. 3 
constituted ‘substantial deviations and  reservations’, which are 
expressly prohibited in terms of Clause 28.2 (pg. 45) of the Tender 
Dossier. 
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In these circumstances,  the evaluation  committee  had  no 
alternative  but to effectively reject Tender  No. 3. 
 
Finally, it needs to be mentioned,  although it does not need to be 
stressed that the Evaluation Committee and the Ministry for Gozo 
have no vested interests one way or the other in the decision of the 
Appeals Board. This submission is being presented only for the 
sake of defending the correctness of the decision reached by the 
Evaluation Committee; and in order to  avoid, if at all possible the 
risks involved were a tender to be declared admissible which fails 
to meet the requirements strictly laid down by the law under pain 
of rejection or annulment of the tender. 
 
 
 
 
 
Av. Carmelo Galea. 

 


